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1. This complaint is filed pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(l) and is based on information and 

belief that John Doe, Jane Doe, and/or other persons who created and operated America 

Progress Now violated the Federal Election Campaign Act ("FECA"), 52 U.S.C. § 30101, et 

seq., by failing to report digital independent expenditures to the Commission in violation of 

52 U.S.C. § 30104(c), and by omitting required disclaimer information on those ads in 

violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30I20(a)(3). 

2. In the final weeks of the 2018 elections, a Facebook page cal1ed America Progress Now was 

created, ran ads expressly advocating for Green Party candidates in five competitive U.S. 

Senate and House races, reached hundreds of thousands ofFacebook users through its ads, 

and then fell silent shortly after Election Day. America Progress Now does not appear to 

exist under that name outside of the Facebook page: The group does not appear in corporate 

records, it does not appear to have a website, and the street address briefly listed on its 
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Facebook page showed no record of the entity's existence. Therefore, there is reason to 

believe that, by failing to report these digital independent expenditures to the Commission, 

the individuals behind America Progress Now violated 52 U.S.C. § 30I04(c), and by 

including the name "America Progress Now" on the communications' disclaimers rather than 

the name of the person who actually paid for the communications, those individuals violated 

52 U.S.C § 30120(a). 

3. Digital political spending is expected to reach nearly $2.8 billion in 2020, 1 and illegal activity 

is likely to be replicated at a much greater scale if the Commission fails to draw clear lines 

and enforce the law. Meanwhile, Facebook recently announced that "[i]f we are made aware 

of an ad that is in violation of a law, we will act quickly to remove it."2 Even in cases where 

the amount spent may be relatively modest, it is important that the Commission send a clear 

signal- both to political actors and to platforms like Facebook-in advance of the 2020 

elections about the application of federal law's disclaimer and disclosure requirements to 

digital independent expenditures. 

4. "lfthe Commission, upon receiving a complaint .. . has reason to believe that a person has 

committed, or is about to commit, a violation of [FECA] ... [t]he Commission shall make an 

investigation of such alleged violation .... " 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2) ( emphasis added); see 

also 11 C.F.R. § 11 l.4(a). 

AJexandra Bruell, Political Ad Spending Will Approach $10 Billion in 2020, New Forecas t Predicts, WALL 

ST. J. (June 4, 2019), lmp~://www.wsj.com/articles/poli1ica l-ad-spending-will-approach-1 O-billiou-iu-2020-new­
foreco ·1-predfots-J 1559642400. 
2 Sarah Schiff, Offering Greater Transparency for Social Issue, Electoral or Political Ads in More 
Countries, F ACEBOOK (June 25, 2019), h11ps://newsmo111. lb.c m/news/2019/06/offi ri11g-grec1 tcr-Lran parency/. 
Facebook also announced that for the 2020 cycle it will grant a "Confirmed Organization" tag to political advertisers 
who provide an FEC identification number, but there is no indication that Facebook will be independently verifying 
whether an entity should be reporting its expenditures to the Conunission. Katie Harbath & Sarah Schiff, Updates to 
Ads About Social Issues, Elections or Politics in the US, F ACEBOOK (Aug. 28, 2019), 
http ://new r om.fb.con new 2019/08/update ·- to-ads-aboul-s cial-issue ·-election · r-politic. -in-the-u. /. 
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5. Campaign Legal Center ("CLC") is a nonpartisan, nonprofit 501(c)(3) organization whose 

mission is to protect and strengthen the U.S. democratic process through litigation and other 

legal advocacy. CLC participates in judicial and administrative matters throughout the nation 

regarding campaign finance, voting rights, redistricting, and government ethics issues. 

FACTS 

6. On October 15, 2018, approximately three weeks before the midterm elections, a group or 

individual created a Facebook page called "America Progress Now."3 

7. On October 27, 2018, the Facebook page began purchasing ads expressly advocating for the 

election of Green Party U.S. Senate candidates in Michigan and Missouri, and U.S. 

Congressional candidates in Illinois, Iowa, and Ohio. According to Facebook's political ad 

archive, these ads ran until November 6, 2018, the date of the 2018 midterm elections, 

collectively generated between 248,003 and 882,997 impressions, and all displayed the 

disclaimer, "Paid for by America Progress Now." 

a. One advertisement expressly advocating for the election of Michigan U.S. Senate 

candidate Marcia Squier cost up to $100 and was disseminated in Michigan from 

October 27 through November 6, 2018.4 The page also spent up to an additional $100 

on a similar version of the ad during the same period. 5 The page also spent between 

America Progress Now, Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 
h11ps://www.faceb ok.com/Americal'rogres Now/ (last visited Aug . 14, 2019). 
4 America Progress Now, "Turn up to VOTE/or Marcia Squier/or U.S. Senate .. . ," (disseminated Oct. 27, 
2018 - Nov.6, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, F ACEBOOK, 
h ltps://\nvw.faceb k.com/ad. library/'.acli e s tall ~all&ad tvge=po.lit ical and i u ads&c untry=U &impressi 
on search ficJd-"ha, imprc ·ions lifetime&page ids (OJ- 75 12289418805 77&q=%22tum%20up%20t %20 o rc%2 
Ofor%20111ar ia%20 guier%22. 
5 America Progress Now, ''No one in the race for Senate will work as hard to represent middle America than 
Marcia Squier ... ," (disseminated Oct. 27, 2018 - Nov. 6, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 
h1tps://www.fa1.:eb ok.c m/ad libnuy/'lactive s tatu, =all&ad type=politicaJ and issue ads&country=U &impres i 
0 11 earch field=has impre s ion. lifetime&page id (QJ=75 J 228941 880577 &g=% 'J2no%20one%20in%20lhe%20r 
ace%20for%20senate%20wil1%20work%20as%20hard%22. 
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$100 and $499 on a third ad expressly advocating for Squier and disseminated to 

Michigan voters on November 5 and 6, 2018. 6 

b. One advertisement expressly advocating for the election of Missouri U.S. Senate 

candidate Jo Crain cost between $100 and $499 and was only disseminated in 

Missouri from October 27 through November 6, 2018. 7 The page also spent up to an 

additional $100 on a similar version of the ad during the same period.8 The page also 

spent between $100 and $499 on a third ad expressly advocating for Crain and 

disseminated to Missouri voters on November 5 and 6, 2018, and it spent up to $100 

on a similar version of that ad during the period October 28 through November 6, 

2018. 9 

c. One advertisement expressly advocating for the election of Illinois U.S. House 

candidate Randy Auxier cost between $100 and $499 and was disseminated primarily 

in Illinois from October 27 through November 6, 2018.10 

6 America Progress Now, "No one in the race for Senate will work as hard to represent middle America than 
Marcia Squier .. . ," (disseminated Nov. S, 2018-Nov. 6, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 

http. ://www.faccb okCOL1 ad. library/?active tatus=all&ad Lype=:polilicaJ and is ue ads&cowllry=US&impres i 
on ·earch fie ld=has impre. sions lifc!ime&page id [0]=75122894 l 880S77&q=%22no%20one%20in%201he%20r 
ace%20for%20senate%20will%20work%20as%20hard%22. 
7 America Progress Now, "Vore Jo Crain for senate in Missouri ... ," (disseminated Oct. 27, 2018 -Nov. 6, 
2018), Facebook Ad Library, F ACEBOOK, 

hllps://www.fac book.com/ad, ljbrary/?activ tatu =aJ l&ad Lyp =political and issu ads&couJ1Lry=US&i111pressi 
n . earch fi Id=ha~ imprelis ions li fc lime&pc1ge id I 0)=75 I 228941 880577&g= %22vote%20 jo%20crain%20for% 

20senate%22. 
8 America Progress Now, "Vote Jo Crain/or Senate in Missouri .. . ," (disseminated Oct. 27, 2018 - Nov. 6, 
2018), Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 

hups://www.facebook.eom/ads/library/?ac1iw statu.-all&ad type- polit i ·al and is. u ads&country=U ,jm1 ressi 
on earch lield=lrns impre~sions Ii fetime&page idsf'O !=75 I 228941880577&g=%22vote%20 j %20crain%20for% 
20senate%22. 
9 America Progress Now, "Vote Jo Crain to Represent Missouri in the U.S. Senate!," (disseminated Nov. S, 
2018 - Nov.6, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 

hUp:://www.faccb k. m/ads/library/?octi v status=all&ad lyp - polittcal and i. sue ad. &counlry=US&impresi;i 
on earch Jield:chas impression lili time&page ids(OJ=75 I 22894 18805 77&q=%22vote%20 j %20crain%20for% 
20senate%22. 
10 America Progress Now, "VOTE Randy Auxier for Congress, Illinois District /2!," (disseminated Oct. 27-
Nov. 6, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 
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d. One advertisement expressly advocating for the election oflowa U.S. House 

candidate Paul Knupp cost between $100 and $499 and was primarily disseminated in 

Iowa between October 27 and November 6, 2018. 11 

e. One advertisement expressly advocating for the election of Ohio U.S. House 

candidate Joe Manchik cost between $100 and $499 and was disseminated only in 

Ohio from October 27 through November 6, 2018. 12 The page spent between $100 

and $499 on a similar version of the ad during the same period. 13 

8. America Progress Now has not reported independent expenditures to the Commission.14 Nor 

does it appear that any other filer has reported the independent expenditures run under the 

America Progress Now name. 15 

9. The America Progress Now Facebook page also ran an ad featuring federal candidate Bernie 

Sanders (I-VT), primarily targeting voters in states like Wisconsin, Michigan, Missouri, 

http ://www.faceb ok.com/ads/library/?a tivc s tal tL =all&ad type=politica l and issue ads&counlry=U. &impres i 
on earch lield=ha impre ·sion lif tim &page ids[OJ=751228941 880577&cp%22vote%20rand\PA,20aaxier%22 . 
11 America Progress Now, "Support & VOTE/or Paul Knupp ... , " (disseminated Oct. 27-Nov. 6, 2018), 
Face book Ad Library, F ACEBOOK, 

http. ://www.fa cebook.com/ad /library/?active , talu ·=all&ad type:political and is, u ad. &cOlmtry=U. &impres i 
on earch fi ld=has impre ·ion lifetime&q=%22vote%20fofllo20paul%20knupp%22 . 
12 America Progress Now, "VOTE Joe Manchikjor Congress . .. , " (disseminated Oct. 27-Nov. 6, 2018), 
Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 

h1LpsJ/www.facebook.com/ad library/?activ ·tatus=all&ad type=politfoal and i sue ad. &country=U &impress i 
on earch fie ld=has impression: lifetime&pag ids[OJ=75122894 1880577&q=%22we%27ve%201o t%20to%20g 
reedv''lo2 %20comorate%22. 
13 America Progress Now, "Vote Joe Manchik on November 61n ... , "(disseminated Oct. 27-Nov. 6, 2018), 
Facebook Ad Library, F ACEBOOK, 

hllp ://www. facebook.~om/ads/Jibrary/?activc statu ·=aJl&acl type-=politicaJ and issue ads&country=U &impress i 
on search field=has impressions lifetimc&page ids[0]= 7 51228941880577 &g=o/..22vo te%20joe%20manchiko/o20o 
n%20november0/o22. 
14 Search results for "America Progress Now," FEC.GOV, 
hnps://www.Je(;.uuv1S~md 1/'! lyp1:: -~nd ida tc...,& lyp ·- connni lle ~ amcrica-i 1Jrog rc:-:- -t 1w w (last 
visited Aug. 14, 2019). 
15 No filer or committee reported independent expenditures in support of any of the five candidates who 
America Progress Now supported. See Independent Expenditures (24- and 48-hour reports), FEC.GOV 
https://www.fec.gov/data/independent-
cxp ndi tu rcs/'?dota typ =processed&is notice=true&candidate td=H60H 121 19&candidats; id=H6Mll4229&candi 
date id~S8M000327 &candidate id=H8IL l 21 'i2&candidate id=H8IA03) 40. 
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Illinois, and Pennsylvania, and urging voters "to send him some allies in Washington. This 

November, don' t vote for a party, vote for Progressive values." 16 Other ads targeted to 

similar states urged voters to "vote third party."17 The group also ran ads expressly 

advocating the election of state candidates, and other ads expressing support for democratic 

socialism in general. 18 

10. On November 5, 2018, ProPublica and Vice News reported that the America Progress Now 

ads had falsely attributed quotes to the federal candidates they were supporting. 19 For 

example, the group ran an ad stating "VOTE Randy Auxier for Congress, Illinois District 

12," along with a quote that appears to be from Auxier;20 Auxier told ProPublica and Vice 

News, "I did not say or write the text that is with my picture, although I do agree with the 

content, for the most part."2 1 Michigan U.S. Senate candidate Marsha Squier wrote in a 

16 America Progress Now, "Bernie Sanders is leading the way .. . ," (disseminated Nov. 5-Nov. 6, 2018), 
Facebook Ad Library, F ACEBOOK, 
http. ://www.facebook.com/ad./library/?aclive s tatu - all&ad lype.=.politicaJ and i. sue acls&counlrY=:US& impressi 
on search fie ld=ha. impr s.'l ions Ii fetim ·pag id. [0):=-75122894 1880577 q=%22bem ie%20~anders%20is%201e 
ading%20the%20wny%22 . 
17 America Progress Now, " Vote 3rd Party!," (disseminated Oct. 27-Nov. 6, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, 
FACEBOOK, 
hllps://www.fac book.com/ad, ibrary/?act ive . ta tu. - all&ad type=polilical and issue ad. &cmmlry-:US&impressi 
on . earch fi ld=ba impre. si n 1ife1ime&page ids[OJ=75 122894 J880577&qi=%22vote%203rd%2011ar1y!%20vo1 
e%20to%20save%20ow·%20cow1try!%22 ; see also America Progress Now, "Break free from the two-party 
lie .. . Vote Third Party.," (disseminated Nov. 6-Nov. 13, 2018), Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 
h1tps://www.frtc book.con ads/li brary/?n live tatu - all&ad 1,1,e=political and issue ad &country=US&impressi 
on earch fi ld=ha, impre. ions 1ifetime&page ids(0]=75122894 J880577&q==%22break%20free%20from%20th 
e%20t wo-party%201ie%22. 
18 See America Progress Now, Facebook Ad Library, F ACEBOOK, 
hltps://www.facebook.com/ad /Librnry/?active ·tatu - all&ad typc=political and i sue ads&couutry=US&impressj 
on earch field=ha impre ion lifetime&page ids[OJ= 75 l228941880577&g= America%20Progres ·%20Now. 
19 Jeremy Merrill & William Turton, A Mysterious Facebook Group ls Using Bernie Sanders' Image Jo Urge 
Democrats to Vote for the Green Party, PROPUBLICA and VICE N EWS (Nov. 5, 2018), 
hllp ://www.propuWica .org/article/a-mysLeriou -facebook-group-i -using-bemie-sanders- irnage-t -urge-democrat -
to-v te-fi r-1he-gree11-party. 
20 America Progress Now, Facebook Ad Library, FACEBOOK, 
hup ' ://www.fo eb ok.com/atl ·/library/'?11 tivc status=all&atl lYJ e=a ll&coun1ry= US&imp1e ion ·car h !icld=hos 

imprc in lifo time&ceAmcri a%20Progre·s%20Now&vicw all pal!e id=75J22 '941880 77 (last visited Aug. 
14, 2019). 
21 Merrill & Turton, supra note 19. 
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comment on America Progress Now's Facebook page that "This site is NOT authorized to 

make up quotes I never said or run ads on my behalf," and to "Cease and desist NOW!"22 

11. ProPublica and Vice News also reported: 

there's no sign of America Progress Now at the address listed on its Facebook page. 
When we visited 605 E. 132nd St. in the Bronx on Monday morning, none of the tenants 
we spoke to had ever heard of America Progress Now. The building's landlord, Stephen 
Rosenfeld, said in a phone call that he hadn't heard of the group either and that no tenants 
by that name were in his building. After reaching out to America Progress Now, the page 
removed its Bronx address. 23 

12. America Progress Now's independent expenditures continued to run through the November 

6, 2018 election. The Facebook page's last ads stopped running on November 13, 2018, and 

it has not run additional ads or made other posts since that date. 

13. No organization with the name America Progress Now exists in the LexisNexis corporate 

filings database,24 nor does it appear in state corporate records databases in New York, 

Delaware, Washington D.C., or Maryland.25 The entity does not appear to have a website, 

and search engine results provide no evidence of the entity' s existence, outside of the now. 

dormant Facebook page. 

22 

23 
Id. 
Id. 

24 LexisNexis, Corporate Filings Search Form, hllp://help.lexi ne;d, .com/tabula-
rasa/pubrec/. carch'? lbu=U &locale=en U &produ 1=pubrec&audience=all&pageLe11gLh=-
I &gueryString=America Progre ·s+N w&Click+the+. earch+button+to+, ubmit+your+searcli--1 guery.x=57& ' lick+t 
he+Search+button+to+submi t+your+search+gu ry.y=6 (last visited July 30, 2019). 
25 NY Department of State Division of Corporations, Corporation and Business Entity Database, 
!filns://appext20.dos.ny.gov/corn pub lic/ ORP EAR H.6NTITY SEARCH ENTRY (last visited Aug. 12, 2019); 
Delaware Division of Corporations, Entity Name Search, 
haps://icis.conl.delawarc.gov/ -·corp/Enlily earch/ Name carch.aspx (last visited Aug. 12, 2019); DC Department of 
Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, Business Filings Search, 
http~://c rpOJll ine.dcra. d .go II ome.a ·px/Proces ·Request (last visited July 30, 2019); 
see also Maryland Business Express, Business Entity Search, 
hUps://cgov.maryland.gov/Busin s. Expr ss/ ntilyScarcb, (last visited July 30, 20 19). 
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SUMMARY OF THE LAW 

14. Independent expenditures are expenditures for communications that expressly advocate the 

election or defeat of a clearly identified federal candidate and are not coordinated with a 

candidate or political party. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(17); 11 C.F.R. § 100.16(a); see also 11 C.F.R. 

§ 100.22 (defining ''expressly advocating"). 

15. FECA requires that a person other than a political committee that makes independent 

expenditures "in an aggregate amount or value in excess of $250 during a calendar year" 

with respect to a particular election must file a statement with the Commission to report the 

political spending. 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c). The statement must disclose, among other things, 

"the identification of each person who made a contribution in excess of $200 to the person 

filing such statement which was made for the purpose of furthering an independent 

expenditure.'' 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(2)(C). Independent expenditure advertisements placed on 

Facebook are subject to FECA's reporting requirements. Advisory Opinion 2011-28 

(Western Representation PAC). 

16. All public communications that expressly advocate the election of a clearly identified federal 

candidate must include a disclaimer identifying who paid for the communication, and 

whether the communication was authorized by a candidate. 52 U.S.C. § 30120(a); 11 C.F.R. 

§ 110.1 1. A disclaimer on such a communication that is not paid for or authorized by a 

candidate must "clearly state the full name and permanent street address, telephone number, 

or World Wide Web address of the person who paid for the communication and state that the 

communication is not authorized by any candidate or candidate's committee." 52 U.S.C. 

§ 30120(a)(3); 11 C.F.R. § 110.l l(b)(3). The term "public communication" includes 

"communications placed for a fee on another person's Web site." 11 C.F.R. § 100.26. A 
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person paying for a public communication on Facebook that expressly advocates the election 

of a clearly identified federal candidate must include all disclaimer information specified by 

52 U.S.C. § 30120(a). Advisory Opinion 2017-12 (Take Back Action Fund). 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

I. JOHN DOE, JANE DOE, AND/OR OTHER PERSONS UNLAWFULLY FAILED TO REPORT 

INDEPENDENT EXPENDITURES 

17. Between October 27 and November 6, 2018, John Doe, Jane Doe, and/or other persons used 

the Facebook page America Progress Now to pay for independent expenditure ads on 

Facebook that expressly advocated for the election of federal candidates in U.S. Senate races 

in Michigan and Missouri, and in U.S. House races in Illinois, Iowa, and Obio.26 52 U.S.C. § 

30101(17); 11 C.F.R. § 100.16(a). 

18. Though the spending information for each ad listed in Facebook's Ad Library provides 

ranges (e.g., $100-$499) rather than discrete amounts, aggregating those ranges for ads in 

each race provides reason to believe that America Progress Now spent in excess of $250 in 

independent expenditures with respect to at least some of the featured federal candidates' 

elections. 

19. By failing to report all independent expenditures in excess of $250, there is reason to believe 

that America Progress Now violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c). 

II. AMERICA PROGRESS Now UNLAWFULLY FAILED TO INCLUDE ACCURATE 

DISCLAIMER INFORMATION 

20. Persons paying for independent expenditures on Facebook must include a disclaimer that 

''clearly state[s] the full name and permanent street address, telephone nwnber, or World 

Wide Web address of the person who paid for the communication and state[ s] that the 

26 See sources cited supra iJ7. 
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communication is not authorized by any candidate or candidate's committee." 52 U.S.C 

§ 30120(a)(3); Advisory Opinion 2017-12 (Talce Back Action Fund). 

21. America Progress Now does not appear to be a legal person. ' 'America Progress Now'' does 

not appear in corporate records, nor does it appear in Commission records, nor does it appear 

to have a website, and the apartment building address briefly listed on its Facebook page 

showed no record of the entity' s existence, according to reporting by Vice News and 

ProPublica. 27 

22. Because America Progress Now is not a person, it could not have paid for the independent 

expenditures run from the America Progress Now Facebook page. 

23. Therefore, there is reason to John Doe, Jane Doe, and/or other persons violated section 

30120(a) by including the name "America Progress Now" on the Facebook page's ad 

disclaimers, rather than the identity of the person(s) who paid for the communications. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

24. Wherefore, the Commission should find reason to believe that that John Doe, Jane Doe, 

and/or other persons who created and operated America Progress Now violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 

30104(c) and 30120(a)(3), and conduct an immediate investigation under 52 U.S.C. 

§ 30109(a)(2). 

25 . The Commission should seek appropriate sanctions for any and all violations, including civil 

penalties sufficient to deter future violations and an injunction prohibiting the respondents 

from any and all violations in the future, and should seek such additional remedies as are 

necessary and appropriate to ensure compliance with the FECA. 

27 Merrill & Turton, supra note 19. 
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Brendan M. Fischer 
Campaign Legal Center 
1101 14th Street, NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20005 
Counsel to the Campaign Legal Center, 
Margaret Christ 

September 12, 2019 

Campaign- Leg '-Center, by 
Brendan M. Fischer 
1101 14th Street, NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 736-2200 

~fkI) f i&~rgare Christ 
1101 i: Street NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 736-2200 
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VERIFICATION 

The complainants listed below hereby verify that the statements made in the attached 

Complaint are, upon their information and belief, true. 

Sworn pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

For Complainant Margaret Christ 

~ -aa> 
Margaret Christ 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this (~ day of September 2019. 

~~ 
Notary Public 

Brendan M. Fischer 

Notary Public 
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